

1

Threatened synanthropes depend on intact forests: a critical evaluation of Moore *et al.* (2023)

Anna Holzner^{1,*} , Nadine Ruppert^{1,2,3}, Kurnia Ilham^{1,4}, Stefano S. K. Kaburu⁵, André Luiz Koch Liston^{1,6,7}, Agustin Fuentes^{1,8} and Malene F. Hansen^{1,8,9,10,*}

¹The Long-Tailed Macaque Project, Ellepindevej 5, Sorø 4180, Denmark

² School of Biological Sciences, Universiti Sains Malaysia, Minden, Penang 11800, Malaysia

⁴Department of Biology, Andalas University, Limau Manis, Pauh, Padang, West Sumatra 25163, Indonesia

⁵School of Animal, Rural and Environmental Sciences, Nottingham Trent University, Brackenhurst Campus, Southwell, NG25 0QF, UK

⁶Department of Chemistry, Princeton University, Washington Road, Princeton, NJ 08544, USA

⁷Department of Chemistry, Columbia University, 3000 Broadway, New York, NY 10027, USA

⁸Department of Anthropology, Princeton University, 116 Aaron Burr Hall, Princeton, NJ 08544, USA

⁹Behavioural Ecology Group, Department of Biology, University of Copenhagen, Universitetsparken 15, Copenhagen 2100, Denmark

¹⁰Oxford Wildlife Trade Research Group, Oxford Brookes University, Gipsy Lane, Oxford, OX3 0BP, UK

ABSTRACT

Synanthropes are known for their remarkable adaptability to coexist with humans, yet increased visibility exposes them to significant threats, such as hunting or conflict over resources. Moore *et al.*'s review 'The rise of hyperabundant native generalists threatens both humans and nature' (https://doi.org/10.1111/brv.12985) explores distribution patterns and impacts of macaques and pigs in anthropogenic environments. Our critical evaluation of this study revealed several substantial issues: the pooling of data from species that are ecologically and behaviourally distinct, an error in data acquisition, potential biases in statistical analyses, and critical misrepresentations of threats to and from wildlife in human-impacted habitats. Additionally, we highlight the lack of evidence supporting the authors' core assertion of hyper-abundance of the study species. While Moore *et al.* compare species densities and abundance across various habitat types, their analyses did not demonstrate population increases over time. On the contrary, our re-analysis of their data sets showed a decreasing population trend in *Macaca nemestrina* and the absence of *M. fascicularis* from 44% of surveyed habitats characterized by medium to high forest integrity. Further, our findings emphasize the importance of intact forests for predicting a high relative abundance of macaques and pigs. Overall, we recommend a more careful interpretation of the data, as misrepresentations of abundance data can result in negative or sensational discourses about overabundance, which may threaten the conservation of species that often thrive in anthropogenic landscapes.

Key words: Macaca fascicularis, Macaca nemestrina, relative abundance, Sus barbatus, Sus scrofa, synanthropes.

CONTENTS

I.	Introduction	2
II.	Critical evaluation of moore <i>et al.</i> (2023)	2
	(1) Macaque behavioural ecology	. 2
	(2) Locally abundant, but globally declining	. 2
	(3) Importance of forest integrity for predicting synanthrope relative abundance	. 3

³Malaysian Primatological Society, Taman Nuri, Kulim, Kedah 08000, Malaysia

^{*} Author for correspondence (E-mail: anna89.holzner@gmail.com; malenefriishansen@gmail.com).

Biological Reviews (2025) 000–000 © 2025 The Author(s). *Biological Reviews* published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society. This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

	(4) Potential threats at the human–wildlife interface	5
III.	Conclusions	. 5
IV.	Acknowledgements	. 6
V.	References	. 6
VI.	Supporting information	. 8

I. INTRODUCTION

Synanthropes are remarkably adaptable wildlife species that demonstrate a high degree of flexibility in utilizing human resources and thrive in anthropogenic environments, often closely associating with human populations (Fuentes, 2010; Gumert, 2011). Long-tailed macaques (*Macaca fascicularis*), for example, have coexisted with humans across most parts of their distributional range for millennia (Thierry, 2007b; Fuentes *et al.*, 2008; Gumert *et al.*, 2011; Hansen *et al.*, 2021). Paradoxically, many of these synanthropes find themselves among the world's most threatened species, facing unprecedented risks that challenge their survival (e.g. Luskin *et al.*, 2021; Gamalo *et al.*, 2023; Holzner *et al.*, 2024).

Given the fast rate of global land use change driven by agricultural intensification, expansion of infrastructure, and growing urbanization (McGee, 2001; Winkler *et al.*, 2021), investigation aimed at enhancing our understanding of wildlife in anthropogenic landscapes is of great importance. Extrapolating the local population sizes of synanthropes in these landscapes to other areas is a common yet problematic approach (Kyes, Iskandar & Pamugas, 2011; Hansen *et al.*, 2019). It carries the risk of creating a misleading image of overabundance, which can shape negative public perceptions and misinform management plans, such as culling or translocating locally abundant populations, potentially threatening the long-term survival of these species (Hansen *et al.*, 2019).

Here, we review Moore *et al.* (2023)'s examination of the distribution patterns and impacts of four generalist species – long-tailed macaques, southern pig-tailed macaques (*M. nemestrina*), bearded pigs (*Sus barbatus*), and wild boars (*S. scrofa*) – in anthropogenic environments. Our evaluation identifies critical weaknesses in this study's analytical framework, including the pooling of data from two distinct macaque species, insufficient evidence to support the authors' claim of hyperabundance, and potential biases in statistical analyses. Based on a re-analysis of the data using an adjusted statistical approach and drawing on the long-standing body of research on macaques' behavioural ecology, we provide an alternative perspective on the challenges and threats faced by wildlife and humans in shared habitats.

II. CRITICAL EVALUATION OF MOORE *ET AL.* (2023)

(1) Macaque behavioural ecology

The selection of appropriate methodology is closely linked to a thorough understanding of the study species' behavioural ecology. This knowledge is essential for correctly interpreting results and drawing accurate conclusions about the taxa in question and their interactions with and impacts on ecosystems. Therefore, pooling species data for statistical analyses should be justified by shared traits, such as behavioural similarities, comparable ecological roles, or overlapping habitat requirements, rather than stemming from a lack of available data, as presented in Moore *et al.* (2023), who grouped *M. nemestrina* and *M. fascicularis* due to too 'few [...] observations' (p. 1835) for each species if considered separately.

Although M. fascicularis and M. nemestrina share the same genus and are sympatric throughout much of the geographic range of M. nemestrina (Hansen et al., 2022; Ruppert et al., 2022), they exhibit some profound differences in their ecology and behaviour (Thierry, 2007a). These include variations in their degree of terrestriality (which is highly relevant for their detection success on near-ground camera traps), dietary preferences, and adaptability to anthropogenic environments, which imply niche segregation (Rodman, 1991). The rather arboreal, largely frugivorous long-tailed macaques typically thrive in wet alluvial terrain with thick ground cover and a continuous, dense canopy (Rodman, 1991). They preferentially inhabit forest edges near rural areas and human settlements, facilitated by their exceptional adaptability to anthropogenic habitats (Fooden, 1995; Gumert, 2011). By contrast, the elusive, predominantly terrestrial (Ruppert et al., 2018) southern pig-tailed macaques are largely restricted to primary and secondary forests, preferring drier terrain on foothills and slopes (Rodman, 1991; Bersacola et al., 2019; Ruppert et al., 2022). Although they regularly forage in oil palm plantations, supplementing their omnivorous diet with a considerable amount of plantation rats (Ruppert et al., 2018; Holzner et al., 2019), these primates are rarely encountered in urban, human-dominated areas (Ruppert et al., 2022).

Given these differences, the decision by Moore *et al.* (2023) to treat *M. fascicularis* and *M. nemestrina* as a single species in their analysis (p. 1835) raises concerns about the validity of their findings. This methodological approach is prone to overlooking key differences in species responses to human-modified environments, potentially leading to misguided conservation strategies that fail to account for species-specific ecological needs.

(2) Locally abundant, but globally declining

Moore *et al.* (2023)'s conclusion on the presence of high densities of synanthropic species in anthropogenic habitats comes as no surprise. It is consistent with the long-standing body of research on macaque behavioural ecology and their propensity for thriving in human-altered habitats (e.g. Southwick & Cadigan, 1972; Fooden, 1995; Gumert, 2011; Hansen *et al.*, 2019). However, applying the term 'hyperabundant' to a group of species that may exhibit high local densities in some areas while facing significant declines in their overall population sizes across their ranges (e.g. Luskin *et al.*, 2017; Koch Liston *et al.*, 2024) may strongly misrepresent the true conservation status of these species.

As correctly highlighted by Moore et al. (2023), three of the four study species are classified as either Endangered [M. fascicularis (Hansen et al., 2022); M. nemestrina (Ruppert et al., 2022)] or Vulnerable (S. barbatus; Luskin et al., 2017) in the IUCN Red List. Despite their ability to live at forest edges, forage in plantations, or scavenge in urban garbage bins, these synanthropes rely heavily on the presence of nearby forests and cannot thrive in agricultural or urban environments alone (Love et al., 2018; Tee et al., 2019; Holzner et al., 2021). This is especially concerning as cities expand and forest cover disappears (Global Forest Watch, 2023), significantly reducing suitable natural habitats for these species. Although alternative viewpoints exist based on the species' ability for population growth (Hilborn & Smith, 2023), recently published research clearly points towards a declining trend in the populations of M. fascicularis and M. nemestrina (see, e.g. Nuttall et al., 2022; Ruppert et al., 2022; Agger, 2023; Koch Liston et al., 2024). For example, a non-invasive probability model developed by Koch Liston et al. (2024) revealed an 80% decline in the population of M. fascicularis over 38 years (1986-2022) across their range. Furthermore, Holzner et al. (2024) documented an exceptionally high mean annual infant mortality rate of approximately 60% over 10 years (2014-2023) in their study population of *M. nemestrina*, which inhabits a mixed forest-oil palm plantation habitat in Peninsular Malavsia, raising concerns about this species' long-term viability in agricultural habitats.

Notably, Moore *et al.* (2023) did not demonstrate 'hyperabundance' according to their own definition of this term as 'at least a doubling of [a species'] long-term population density' (p. 1831). The authors compare species densities and abundance across space and habitat types (i.e. degraded *versus* intact habitats) rather than assessing long-term population trends in wild macaque and pig populations over time, despite the availability of relevant data.

Using the data compiled by Moore *et al.* (2023) in their Table S1, including research spanning approximately 50 years, we modelled *M. nemestrina* density as a function of time. We fitted a linear mixed model (Appendix S1) with the sampling year as a test predictor and the study site as a random effect, given that the data may include multiple observations from the same area. Notably, our results showed a significant decline in the macaques' overall population density between 1975 and 2019 [model estimate \pm standard error (SE) = -1.05 ± 0.42 ; likelihood ratio test (LRT): $\chi^2 = 5.74$, $\mathcal{N} = 9$, degrees of freedom (df) = 1, P = 0.017; Fig. 1].

Furthermore, Moore *et al.* (2023) acknowledge limitations in the available data but nevertheless claim that *M. fascicularis* density was 520% higher in degraded landscapes



Fig. 1. Population trend of *Macaca nemestrina*. Shown are density estimates (individuals/km²) as a function of time. The dotted line shows the fitted model and the shaded areas its 95% confidence intervals [N = 9 observations across six study sites; *y*-axis is presented on a logarithmic scale; data set: Table S1 in Moore *et al.*, 2023).

(31 individuals/km²) compared to intact forest habitats (5 individuals/km², p. 1863). Crucially, this density estimate for intact forest, derived from a single survey conducted in Kelimutu National Park (Flores, Indonesia) in 2010 (Moore et al., 2023; Table S1), appears incorrect. The source cited (Fauzi et al., 2020) reports an encounter rate of '5 individuals/km' (p. 5), which Moore *et al.* (2023) present as a density estimate. An encounter rate typically represents the number of individuals observed per distance of transect surveyed (e.g. individuals per km). By contrast, a population density estimate quantifies the number of individuals per unit area (e.g. individuals per km²). In fact, Fauzi et al. (2020) estimated population density of M. fascicularis only for a small, touristfrequented area within their study site, characterized by shrubs and locations of active food provisioning (p. 8: 104 individuals/km²). However, they did not provide a density estimate for the entire study site. Consequently, Moore et al. (2023)'s comparison of M. fascicularis density between degraded and intact forest habitats is unsupported, as no valid density estimate exists for intact forests. In this context, it is also noteworthy that Musser (1981) suggested that longtailed macaques have been introduced to Flores by humans, further raising concerns about the comparability of Fauzi et al. (2020)'s study population with native populations, given the potential for altered ecological dynamics resulting from the absence of natural predators.

(3) Importance of forest integrity for predicting synanthrope relative abundance

Moore *et al.* (2023) used information on forest loss [estimated using the Forest Landscape Integrity Index (FLII), hereafter

'forest integrity'; Grantham *et al.*, 2020] and oil palm cover (estimated using the CRISP 2015 land cover map of Southeast Asia; Miettinen, Shi & Liew, 2016) based on the current characteristics of study sites and correlated these with population densities dating back to 1965 (see Table S1 in Moore *et al.*, 2023). Given that forest loss and oil palm cover have increased rapidly over the past decades (Estoque *et al.*, 2019), this method may incorrectly describe study areas as degraded with oil palm, when in fact, at the time of sampling, they still were intact forests. In particular, the authors' comparison of macaque and pig population densities between degraded and intact habitats may be flawed, as approximately 80% of the reported density estimates were obtained before 2010 (Table S1 in Moore *et al.*, 2023).

Furthermore, it appears that the authors used 20 distinct statistical models on the same data set (Tables S2 and S3 in Moore *et al.*, 2023), all aimed at addressing a single research question: the significance of anthropogenic habitat in predicting the relative abundance of synanthropes. This approach, which entails separate analyses for each species and predictor variable, critically inflates the Type I error rate (i.e. the risk of false positive conclusions; Andrade, 2019) while excluding potential interactions between predictors. For example, the impact of oil palm cover on species abundance might be positive only if the surrounding habitat is primarily characterized by intact forest (Love *et al.*, 2018). However, this type of interactive effect was not adequately addressed by Moore *et al.* (2023).

Given the importance of considering interaction terms in regression analyses to enhance explanatory power and ensure accurate conclusions (Friedrich, 1982; Cohen *et al.*, 2013), we suggest a re-analysis of Moore *et al.* (2023)'s data set (their Tables S2 and S3) on camera trap estimates from studies published between 1993 and 2021. Accordingly, we constructed a single linear mixed model incorporating

data from all four study species (Appendix S1), using the relative abundance index (RAI), that is the number of detections per 100 trap days, as the response variable. We considered forest integrity (mean \pm SD = 4.88 \pm 3.35, range = 0–9.75) and oil palm cover (low: 0–1% versus high: 21–42%) as fixed effects test predictors, species as fixed effects control predictor, and the study site as a random effect. We included the interaction between forest integrity and oil palm cover (as explained above), as well as these predictors' interactions with species, accounting for potential differences in species' responses to habitat disturbance.

Overall, our results indicate a clear effect of the two test predictors on species' relative abundance (full-null model comparison: $\chi^2 = 156.9$, $\mathcal{N} = 231$, df = 12, $\dot{P} < 0.001$). Specifically, the significant three-way interaction between forest integrity, oil palm cover, and species (LRT: $\chi^2 = 13.76$, $\mathcal{N} = 231$, df = 3, P = 0.003) underscores the particular importance of high forest integrity in mixed habitats where oil palm coverage ranges between approximately 20% and 40% (Fig. 2). This is in line with previous studies highlighting that although S. barbatus and M. nemestrina may regularly range in oil palm plantations, they depend on adjacent intact forests for shelter and to perform their full behavioural repertoire (Love et al., 2018; Holzner et al., 2021). A positive trend of forest integrity on relative abundance estimates can also be seen in habitats with low oil palm cover. An exception to this trend appears to be *M. fascicularis*, with this species entirely absent in 44% of sites with medium or high forest integrity (FLII >6; Grantham et al., 2020; Fig. 2). Their absence may indicate that this species has been extirpated from many forests and now persists at high densities only locally and in highly anthropogenic areas. Alternatively, this pattern may reflect a detection bias related to the data-collection method using near-ground camera traps. Some studies report that long-tailed macaques tend to travel arboreally in intact



Fig. 2. Impact of habitat degradation on species abundance. Relative abundance estimates (RAIs) as a function of forest integrity, shown separately for habitats with high (21-42%) and low (0-1%) oil palm cover, and for the four species. The lines show the fitted model and the shaded areas its 95% confidence intervals (N = 231 observations across 38 study sites; the *y*-axis is presented on a logarithmic scale; data set: Tables S2 and S3 in Moore *et al.*, 2023).

Biological Reviews (2025) 000-000 © 2025 The Author(s). Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

forests (e.g. Cant, 1988; Rodman, 1991), which may reduce their detectability by terrestrial camera traps. By contrast, in more open habitats, such as agricultural or urban areas, the macaques' more terrestrial lifestyle, stemming from disruption of canopy connectivity, may increase their likelihood of detection, which may explain the higher detection rates of *M. fascicularis* in oil palm plantations and other degraded landscapes.

(4) Potential threats at the human-wildlife interface

Moore *et al.* (2023) emphasize the 'threats' posed by synanthropes (macaques and pigs, in this case) 'to both humans and nature'. However, rather than attributing these threats to the success of generalist species in human-altered environments, we should focus on addressing the underlying causes: human activities that actively and rapidly create interfaces where wildlife is forced to adapt to modified landscapes, thereby increasing the risk of close interactions and disease transmission between humans and wildlife (Jones-Engel, Schillact & Engel, 2003).

Moore et al. (2023) claim that synanthropes adversely affect forest ecosystems and displace other mammals through asymmetric competition. While these assertions may hold some truth (see, e.g. Bueno et al., 2011; Luncz et al., 2017; Cuevas et al., 2020), the authors fail to provide empirical evidence to support them, e.g. through seed germination experiments or assessments of habitat carrying capacity. Instead, they present a one-sided perspective that overlooks the valuable ecological roles of certain synanthropic species in intact and degraded habitats. For instance, previous studies have highlighted the importance of macaques as seed dispersers, particularly in areas where other large vertebrates have been eliminated (Lucas & Corlett, 1998; Ruppert, Mansor & Anuar, 2014). Furthermore, the authors did not investigate instances of competitive exclusion. Without examining causal linkages, the observed association between the percentage of oil palm cover and the dominance of mammalian communities by southern pig-tailed macaques and wild boars does not provide evidence of interspecific competition among mammals, nor does it implicate these species in cascading impacts. A more plausible explanation for the reduced mammal diversity in oil palm-dominated landscapes is that the loss of intact forest habitat is more detrimental to mammalian taxa other than macaques and pigs. Previous research has shown that larger mammals and more specialized species, in particular, often struggle to adapt to highly degraded and anthropogenically impacted areas (Danielsen & Heegaard, 1995; Brodie, Giordano & Ambu, 2015; Alroy, 2017). Therefore, their displacement is likely a consequence of habitat conversion that disrupts ecosystem balance rather than a result of direct competition with more adaptable, generalist species.

As described by Moore *et al.* (2023), the presence of wildlife at the interfaces between natural habitats and rural or urban environments poses risks of transferring diseases, such as Nipah, monkeypox, or malaria, to humans. However, it is important 5

to note that zoonotic diseases often spread in situations where humans directly handle animals, and cases of disease transmission associated with macaque capture, trade, and laboratory research are well documented (e.g. Greatorex *et al.*, 2016; Hicks, 2023; Warne, Moloney & Chaber, 2023; Badihi *et al.*, 2024; Linder *et al.*, 2024). Conversely, evidence of disease transfer in the wild and in intact habitat settings is rare (e.g. Law, 2018). In fact, we would even argue that wildlife can contribute to mitigating human disease risks in shared environments by acting as a buffer. Research suggests that pathogen vectors, such as mosquitoes and ticks, may preferentially feed on macaques rather than humans in shared habitats (Lee *et al.*, 2011), potentially reducing the risk of vector-borne infections, such as malaria, in human populations.

While Moore et al. (2023) portray synanthropes as largely resilient, they are, in fact, exposed to severe anthropogenic threats. One of the key reasons for the long-tailed macaques' recent classification as 'Endangered' by the IUCN is the intense hunting pressure and capture for the pet trade (Lappan & Ruppert, 2019; Hansen et al., 2021; Badihi et al., 2024), entertainment (SMACC, 2023), and biomedical and pharmaceutical research (e.g. Hansen et al., 2022; Nijman et al., 2022; Gamalo et al., 2023; Warne et al., 2023, Garber et al., 2024), starkly contradicting Moore et al. (2023)'s statement that macaques are 'rarely hunted' (pp. 1832). Further, in contrast to the authors' claim of 'high fecundity' (Moore et al., 2023, p. 1838), macaques are unequivocally classified as K-selected species, whose life histories are characterized by larger body size, long lifespans, and the production of a limited number of offspring at a time (Ross, 1992). Specifically, macaques can live up to 28 years in the wild and typically produce single offspring at approximately two-year intervals (van Noordwijk & van Schaik, 1999; Sponsel, Ruttanadakul & Natadecha-Sponsel, 2002). Given their long lifespans and the complexity of source-sink population dynamics, the impact of other threats, such as chemical pollution often associated with agricultural intensification, may not be immediately apparent but could evolve into a more significant concern over the course of several generations. Holzner et al. (2024) provide initial indications that reproductive success is significantly reduced in a population of southern pig-tailed macaques foraging in oil palm plantation areas, despite these macaques seemingly 'thriving' in agricultural landscapes.

Pigs, renowned for their typically higher fecundity than macaques, also encounter significant threats. Both bearded pig and wild boar populations have suffered from pronounced population declines due to recent outbreaks of African Swine Fever, posing imminent risks of extirpation across Southeast Asia (Luskin *et al.*, 2021, 2023).

III. CONCLUSIONS

(1) We emphasize the need for maintaining scientific integrity when assessing the population status of wildlife that appears to thrive in highly anthropogenic landscapes. (2) We urge caution to avoid misrepresenting the actual dynamics of human-wildlife-habitat interfaces, as well as negative and sensational discourses, as this hampers the conservation management of these threatened species (Hansen *et al.*, 2021). Concerningly, Moore *et al.* (2023)'s erroneous conclusions have been highlighted in global media (e.g. https://scitechdaily.com/they-were-everywhere-exploding-monkey-and-pig-populations-

pose-human-disease-risk/#google_vignette) and actively used by the National Association for Biomedical Research to question the most recent IUCN Red List assessment of the endangered *M. fascicularis*.

(3) Rather than condemning species for their generalist nature and synanthropic capacities, it is essential to recognize human activity as the primary driver of habitat degradation that forces animals into anthropogenic areas and creates novel habitats for these species.

(4) The accurate and replicable assessment of available data, as well as the collection of new data on population sizes, distributions, and histories, is critical for effective scientific engagement and public discourse regarding synanthropic species in the Anthropocene.

IV. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The Long-Tailed Macaque Project is thankful to all funders and supporters, particularly to Animal Protection Denmark and Re:wild. M. F. H. is grateful to the Carlsberg Foundation (grant no. CF21-0473). Further, we thank the Editor-in-Chief, John Welch, and the three anonymous referees for their valuable feedback to improve this manuscript substantially.

V. REFERENCES

- References identified with an asterisk (*) are cited only within the online Supporting Information.
- AGGER, C. (2023). The Status of Key Species in Keo Seima Wildlife Sanctuary 2022. WCS Cambodia, Phnom Penh. Electronic file available at https://doi.org/10.19121/ 2023.Report.45443. Accessed 03.10.2024.
- ALROY, J. (2017). Effects of habitat disturbance on tropical forest biodiversity. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 114, 6056–6061.
- ANDRADE, C. (2019). Multiple testing and protection against a type 1 (false positive) error using the Bonferroni and Hochberg corrections. *Indian Journal of Psychological Medicine* 41, 99–100.
- *BAAYEN, R. H. (2008). Analyzing Linguistic Data: A Practical Introduction to Statistics Using R. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- *BADIHI, G., NIELSEN, D. R. K., GARBER, P. A., GILL, M., JONES-ENGEL, L., MALDONADO, A. M., DORE, K. M., CRAMER, J. D., LAPPAN, S., DOLINS, F., SY, E. Y., FUENTES, A., NIJMAN, V. & HANSEN, M. F. (2024). Perspectives on conservation impacts of the global primate trade. *International Journal of Primatology* 45, 972–999.
- *BARR, D. J., LEVY, R., SCHEEPERS, C. & TILY, H. J. (2013). Random effects structure for confirmatory hypothesis testing: keep it maximal. *Journal of Memory and Language* 68, 255–278.
- *BATES, D., MÄCHLER, M., BOLKER, B. & WALKER, S. (2015). Fitting linear mixedeffects models using lme4. *Journal of Statistical Software* 67, 1–48.
- BERSACOLA, E., SASTRAMIDJAJA, W. J., RAYADIN, Y., MACDONALD, D. W. & CHEYNE, S. M. (2019). Occupancy patterns of ungulates and pig-tailed macaques

across regenerating and anthropogenic forests on Borneo. Hystrix, the Italian Journal of Manmalogy 30, 126-133.

- BRODIE, J. F., GIORDANO, A. J. & AMBU, L. (2015). Differential responses of large mammals to logging and edge effects. *Manunalian Biology* 80, 7–13.
- BUENO, C. G., REINÉ, R., ALADOS, C. L. & GÓMEZ-GARCÍA, D. (2011). Effects of large wild boar disturbances on alpine soil seed banks. *Basic and Applied Ecology* 12, 125–133.
- CANT, J. G. H. (1988). Positional behavior of long-tailed macaques (Macaca fascicularis) in northern Sumatra. American Journal of Physical Anthropology 76, 29–37.
- COHEN, J., COHEN, P., WEST, S. G. & AIKEN, L. (2013). Applied Multiple Regression/Correlation Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences, Third Edition. Routledge, New York, NY.
- CUEVAS, M. F., CAMPOS, C. M., OJEDA, R. A. & JAKSIC, F. M. (2020). Vegetation recovery after 11 years of wild boar exclusion in the Monte Desert, Argentina. *Biological Invasions* 22, 1607–1621.
- DANIELSEN, F. & HEEGAARD, M. (1995). Impact of logging and plantation development on species diversity: A case study from Sumatra. In *Management of Tropical Forests: Towards an Integrated Perspective* (ed. Ø. SANDBUKT), pp. 73–92. Centre for Development and the Environment, University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway.
- *DOBSON, A. (2001). An Introduction to Generalized Linear Models, Second Edition. Chapman & Hall/CRC, Boca Raton.
- ESTOQUE, R. C., OOBA, M., AVITABILE, V., HIJIOKA, Y., DASGUPTA, R., TOGAWA, T. & MURAYAMA, Y. (2019). The future of Southeast Asia's forests. *Nature Communications* **10**, 1829.
- FAUZI, R., WURVANTO, T., SUARMADI, F. & TOMONOB, A. (2020). Distribution of long-tailed macaque (*Macaca fascicularis*) in Kelimutu National Park. *IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science* 591, 12041.
- *FIELD, A. (2013). Discovering Statistics Using IBM SPSS Statistics, Third Edition. Sage Publications, London.
- FOODEN, J. (1995). Systematic review of southeast Asian long-tail macaques, Macaca fascicularis (raffles, 1821). Fieldiana Zoology 81, 1–206.
- *FORSTMEIER, W. & SCHIELZETH, H. (2011). Cryptic multiple hypotheses testing in linear models: overestimated effect sizes and the winner's curse. *Behavioral Ecology* and Sociobiology 65, 47–55.
- *Fox, J. & WEISBERG, S. (2019). An R Companion to Applied Regression, Third Edition. SAGE Publications, Thousand Oaks CA.
- FRIEDRICH, R. J. (1982). In defense of multiplicative terms in multiple regression equations. American Journal of Political Science 26, 797–833.
- FUENTES, A. (2010). Natural cultural encounters in Bali: monkeys, temples, tourists and ethnoprimatology. *Cultural Anthropology* 25, 600–624.
- FUENTES, A., KALCHIK, S., GETTLER, L., KWIATT, A., KONECKI, M. & JONES-ENGEL, L. (2008). Characterizing human-macaque interactions in Singapore. *American Journal of Primatology* 70, 879–883.
- GAMALO, L. E., ILHAM, K., JONES-ENGEL, L., GILL, M., SWEET, R., ALDRICH, B., PHIAPALATH, P., VAN BANG, T., AHMED, T., KITE, S., PARAMASIVAM, S., SEIHA, H., ZAINOL, M. Z., NIELSEN, D. R. K., RUPPERT, N., *ET AL*. (2024). Removal from the wild endangers the once widespread long-tailed macaque. *American Journal of Primatology* 86, e23547.
- GARBER, P. A., ESTRADA, A., SHANEE, S., SVENSSON, M. S., ARREGOITIA, L. V., NIJMAN, V., SHANEE, N., GOUVEIA, S. F., NEKARIS, K. A. I., CHAUDHARY, A., BICCA-MARQUES, J. C. & HANSEN, M. F. (2024). Global wildlife trade and trafficking contribute to the world's nonhuman primate conservation crisis. *Frontiers* in *Conservation Science* 5, 1400613.
- GLOBAL FOREST WATCH (2023). Electronic file available at https://www.globalforestwatch.org. Accessed 14.11.2024.
- GRANTHAM, H. S., DUNCAN, A., EVANS, T. D., JONES, K. R., BEYER, H. L., SCHUSTER, R., WALSTON, J., RAY, J. C., ROBINSON, J. G., CALLOW, M., CLEMENTS, T., COSTA, H. M., DEGEMMIS, A., ELSEN, P. R., ERVIN, J., FRANCO, P., GOLDMAN, E., GOETZ, S., HANSEN, A., HOFSVANG, E., JANTZ, P., JUPITER, S., KANG, A., LANGHAMMER, P., LAURANCE, W. F., LIEBERMAN, S., LINKIE, M., MALHI, Y., MAXWELL, S., MENDEZ, M., MITTERMEIER, R., MURRAY, N. J., POSSINGHAM, H., RADACHOWSKY, J., SAATCHI, S., SAMPER, C., SILVERMAN, J., SHAPIRO, A., STRASSBURG, B., STEVENS, T., STOKES, E., TAYLOR, R., TEAR, T., TIZARD, R., VENTER, O., VISCONTI, P., WANG, S. & WATSON, J. E. M. (2020). Anthropogenic modification of forests means only 40% of remaining forests have high ecosystem integrity. *Nature Communications* 11(1), 5978. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-19493-3.
- GREATOREX, Z. F., OLSON, S. H., SINGHALATH, S., SILITHAMMAVONG, S., KHAMMAVONG, K., FINE, A. E., WEISMAN, W., DOUANGNGEUN, B., THEPPANGNA, W., KEATTS, L., GILBERT, M., KARESH, W. B., HANSEL, T., ZIMICKI, S., O'ROURKE, K., JOLY, D. O. & MAZET, J. A. (2016). Wildlife trade and human health in Lao PDR: an assessment of the zoonotic disease risk in markets. *PLoS One* 11(3), c0150666. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.01506666.
- GUMERT, M. D. (2011). The common monkey of Southeast Asia: long-tailed macaque populations, ethnophoresy, and their occurrence in human environments. In *Monkeys* on the Edge: Ecology and Management of Long-Tailed Macaques and their Interface with Humans

(eds A. FUENTES, L. JONES-ENGEL and M. D. GUMERT), pp. 3–44. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

- GUMERT, M. D., FUENTES, A., ENGEL, G. & JONES-ENGEL, L. (2011). Future directions for research and conservation of long-tailed macaque populations. In Monkeys on the Edge: Ecology and Management of Long-Tailed Macaques and their Interface with Humans (eds A. FUENTES, L. JONES-ENGEL and M. D. GUMERT), pp. 328–353. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- HANSEN, M. F., ANG, A., TRINH, T., SY, E., PARAMASIWAM, S., AHMED, T., DIMALIBOT, J., JONES-ENCEL, L., RUPPERT, N., GRIFIOEN, C., LWIN, N., PHIAPALATH, P., GRAY, R., KITE, S., DOAK, N., *ET AL*. (2022). *Macaca fascicularis*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2022: e.T12551A19956307. Electronic file available at https://doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.2022-1.RLTS. T12551A199563077.en. Accessed 14.11.2023.
- HANSEN, M. F., GILL, M., NAWANGSARI, V. A., SANCHEZ, K. L., CHEYNE, S. M., NIJMAN, V. & FUENTES, A. (2021). Conservation of long-tailed macaques: implications of the updated IUCN status and the CoVID-19 pandemic. *Primate Conservation* 35, 1–11.
- HANSEN, M. F., NAWANGSARI, V. A., VAN BEEST, F. M., SCHMIDT, N. M., FUENTES, A., TRAEHOLT, C., STELVIG, M. & DABELSTEEN, T. (2019). Estimating densities and spatial distribution of a commensal primate species, the long-tailed macaque (*Macaca fascicularis*). *Conservation Science and Practice* 1, e88.
- *HANYA, G., OTANI, Y., HONGO, S., HONDA, T., OKAMURA, H. & HIGO, Y. (2018). Activity of wild Japanese macaques in Yakushima revealed by camera trapping: patterns with respect to season, daily period and rainfall. *PLoS One* 13, e0190631.
- HICKS, J. P. (2023). Infected monkeys at Michigan research lab threaten health and science. Electronic file available at https://www.mlive.com/public-interest/2023/ 06/infected-monkeys-at-michigan-research-lab-threaten-health-and-science.html. Accessed 14.11.2023.
- HILBORN, R. & SMITH, D. R. (2023). Is the long-tailed macaque at risk of extinction? *American Journal of Primatology* 86, e23590.
- HOLZNER, A., BALASUBRAMANIAM, K. N., WEISS, B. M., RUPPERT, N. & WIDDIG, A. (2021). Oil palm cultivation critically affects sociality in a threatened Malaysian primate. *Scientific Reports* 11, 1–16.
- HOLZNER, A., MOHD RAMELI, N. I. A., RUPPERT, N. & WIDDIG, A. (2024). Agricultural habitat use affects infant survivorship in an endangered macaque species. *Current Biology* 34, 410–416.e4.
- HOLZNER, A., RUPPERT, N., SWAT, F., SCHMIDT, M., WEISS, B. M., VILLA, G., MANSOR, A., MOHD SAH, S. A., ENGELHARDT, A., KÜHL, H. & WIDDIG, A. (2019). Macaques can contribute to greener practices in oil palm plantations when used as biological pest control. *Current Biology* 29, R1066–R1067.
- JONES-ENGEL, L., SCHILLACT, M. A. & ENGEL, G. A. (2003). Human-nonhuman primate interactions: an ethnoprimatological approach. In *Field and Laboratory Methods in Primatology: A Practical Guide* (eds J. M. SETCHELL and D. J. CURTIS), pp. 15–24. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- KOCH LISTON, A. L., ZHU, X., BANG, T. V., PHIAPALATH, P., HUN, S., AHMED, T., HASAN, S., BISWAS, S., NATH, S., AHMED, T., ILHAM, K., LWIN, N., FRECHETTE, J. L., HON, N., AGGER, C., AI, S., AUDA, E., GAZAGNE, E., KAMLER, J. F., GROENENBERG, M., BANET-EUGENE, S., CHALLIS, N., VIBOL, N., LEROUX, N., SINOVAS, P., REAKSMEY, S., MUÑOZ, V. H., LAPPAN, S., ZAINOL, Z., ALBANESE, V., ALEXIADOU, A., NIELSEN, D. R. K., HOLZNER, A., RUPPERT, N., BRIEFER, E. F., FUENTES, A. & HANSEN, M. F. (2024). A model for the noninvasive, habitat-inclusive estimation of upper limit abundance for synanthropes, exemplified by *M. Fascicularis. Science Advances* 10(21), eadn5390. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.adn5390.
- KYES, R. C., ISKANDAR, E. & PAMUNGKAS, J. (2011). Preliminary survey of the longtailed macaques (Macaca fascicularis) on Java, Indonesia: distribution and humanprimate conflict. In Monkeys on the Edge: Ecology and Management of Long-Tailed Macaques and their Interface with Humans (eds A. FUENTES, L. JONES-ENGEL and M. D. GUMERT), pp. 65–68. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- LAPPAN, S. & RUPPERT, N. (2019). Primate research and conservation in Malaysia. CAB Reviews 14, 1–10.
- LAW, Y.-H. (2018). Rare human outbreak of monkey malaria detected in Malaysia. *Nature*. Electronic file available at https://doi.org/10.1038/d41586-018-04121-4. Accessed 14.11.2023.
- LEE, K.-S., DIVIS, P. C. S., ZAKARIA, S. K., MATUSOP, A., JULIN, R. A., CONWAY, D. J., COX-SINGH, J. & SINGH, B. (2011). *Plasmodium knowlesi:* reservoir hosts and tracking the emergence in humans and macaques. *PLoS Pathogens* 7, e1002015.
- LINDER, A., NADZAM, B., JAMIESON, D., STILT, K. & MCCARTHY, V. (2024). Animal markets and zoonotic disease risk: A global synthesis of a 15 country study. Electronic file available at https://bpb-us-el.wpmucdn.com/wp.nyu.edu/dist/b/11111/files/ 2024/07/Animal-Markets-and-Zoonotic-Discase-Risk-high-resolution.pdf. Accessed 24.08.2024.
- LOVE, K., KURZ, D. J., VAUGHAN, I. P., KE, A., EVANS, L. J. & GOOSSENS, B. (2018). Bearded pig (Sus barbatus) utilisation of a fragmented forest-oil palm landscape in Sabah, Malaysian Borneo. Wildlife Research 44, 603–612.

- LUCAS, P. W. & CORLETT, R. T. (1998). Seed dispersal by long-tailed macaques. American Journal of Primatology 45, 29–44.
- LUNCZ, L. V., TAN, A., HASLAM, M., KULIK, L., PROFFITT, T., MALAIVIJITNOND, S. & GUMERT, M. (2017). Resource depletion through primate stone technology. *eLife* 6, e23647.
- LUSKIN, M., KE, A., MEIJAARD, E., GUMAL, M. & KAWANISHI, K. (2017). Sus barbatus (errata version published in 2018). The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2017: e.T41772A123793370. Electronic file available at https://doi.org/10.2305/IUCN. UK.2017-3.RLTS.T41772A44141317.en. Accessed 14.11.2023.
- LUSKIN, M. S., MEIJAARD, E., SURYA, S., SHEHERAZADE, WALZER, C. & LINKIE, M. (2021). African swine fever threatens Southeast Asia's 11 endemic wild pig species. *Conservation Letters* 14, e12784.
- LUSKIN, M. S., MOORE, J. H., MENDES, C. P., NASARDIN, M. B., ONUMA, M. & DAVIES, S. J. (2023). The mass mortality of Asia's native pigs induced by African swine fever. *Wildlife Letters* 1, 8–14.
- *MARTIN, J., ROYLE, J. A., MACKENZIE, D. I., EDWARDS, H. H., KÉRY, M. & GARDNER, B. (2011). Accounting for non-independent detection when estimating abundance of organisms with a Bayesian approach. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution* 2, 595–601.
- McGEE, T. (2001). Urbanization Takes on New Dimensions in Asia's Population Giants. Population Reference Bureau, Vancouver, BC. Electronic file available at https:// www.prb.org/resources/urbanization-takes-on-new-dimensions-in-asiaspopulation-giants/. Accessed 24.08.2024.
- MIETTINEN, J., SHI, C. & LIEW, S. C. (2016). 2015 land cover map of Southeast Asia at 250 m spatial resolution. *Remote Sensing Letters* 7, 701–710.
- MOORE, J. H., GIBSON, L., AMIR, Z., CHANTHORN, W., AHMAD, A. H., JANSEN, P. A., MENDES, C. P., ONUMA, M., PERES, C. A. & LUSKIN, M. S. (2023). The rise of hyperabundant native generalists threatens both humans and nature. *Biological Reviews* 98, 1829–1844.
- MUSSER, G. G. (1981). The giant rat of Flores and its relatives east of Borneo and Bali. Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History 169, 70–175.
- NIJMAN, V., MORCATTY, T. Q., FEDDEMA, K., CAMPERA, M. & NEKARIS, K. A. I. (2022). Disentangling the legal and illegal wildlife trade-insights from Indonesian wildlife market surveys. *Animals* **12**, 628.
- VAN NOORDWIJK, M. A. & SCHAIK, C. P. (1999). The effects of dominance rank and group size on female lifetime reproductive success in wild long-tailed macaques, *Macaca fascicularis. Primates* 40, 105–130.
- NUTTALL, M. N., GRIFFIN, O., FEWSTER, R. M., MCGOWAN, P. J. K., ABERNETHY, K., O'KELLY, H., NUT, M., SOT, V. & BUNNEFELD, N. (2022). Long-term monitoring of wildlife populations for protected area management in Southeast Asia. *Conservation Science and Practice* 4, e614.
- *O'BRIEN, T. G. (2011). Abundance, density and relative abundance: A conceptual framework. In *Camera Traps in Animal Ecology: Methods and Analyses* (eds A. F. O'CONNELL, J. D. NICHOLS and K. U. KARANTH), pp. 71–96. Springer Japan, Tokyo.
- *QUINN, G. P. & KEOUGH, M. J. (2002). Experimental Design and Data Analysis for Biologists. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- *R CORE TEAM (2023). R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. Electronic file available at https://www.R-project.org/.
- RODMAN, P. S. (1991). Structural differentiation of microhabitats of sympatric Macaca fascicularis and M. Nemestrina in East Kalimantan, Indonesia. International Journal of Primatology 12, 357–375.
- Ross, C. (1992). Life history patterns and ecology of macaque species. *Primates* 33, 207–215.
- *ROYLE, J. A. (2004). N-mixture models for estimating population size from spatially replicated counts. *Biometrics* 60, 108–115.
- RUPPERT, N., HOLZNER, A., HANSEN, M. F., ANG, A. & JONES-ENGEL, L. (2022). Macaca nemestrina. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2022: e.T12555A215350982. Electronic file available at https://doi.org/10.2305/ IUCN.UK.2022-1.RLTS.T12555A215350982.en. Accessed 14.11.2023.
- RUPPERT, N., HOLZNER, A., SEE, K. W., GISBRECHT, A. & BECK, A. (2018). Activity budgets and habitat use of wild southern pig-tailed macaques (*Macaca nemestrina*) in oil palm plantation and forest. *International Journal of Primatology* 39, 237–251.
- RUPPERT, N., MANSOR, A. & ANUAR, S. (2014). A key role of the southern pig-tailed macaque *Macaca nemestrina* (Linnaeus) in seed dispersal of non-climbing rattans in peninsular Malaysia. *Asian Primates Journal* 4, 42–51.
- *SCHIELZETH, H. (2010). Simple means to improve the interpretability of regression coefficients. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution* 1, 103–113.
- SMACC (2023). The cruelty you don't see: The suffering of pet macaques for social media content. Electronic file available at https://www.smaccoalition.com/ macaque-report. Accessed 14.11.2023.
- *SOLLMANN, R., MOHAMED, A., SAMEJIMA, H. & WILTING, A. (2013). Risky business or simple solution – relative abundance indices from camera-trapping. *Biological Conservation* 159, 405–412.
- SOUTHWICK, C. H. & CADIGAN, F. C. (1972). Population studies of Malaysian primates. *Primates* 13, 1–18.

- SPONSEL, L. E., RUTTANADAKUL, N. & NATADECHA-SPONSEL, P. (2002). Monkey business? The conservation implications of macaque ethnoprimatology in southern Thailand. In *Primates Face to Face: The Conservation Implications of Human-Nonhuman Primate Interconnections* (eds A. FUENTES and L. D. WOLFE), pp. 288–309. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- *TAKEMOTO, H. (2004). Seasonal change in terrestriality of chimpanzees in relation to microclimate in the tropical forest. American Journal of Physical Anthropology 124, 81–92.
- TEE, S. L., SOLIHHIN, A., JUFFIRY, S. A., PUTRA, T. R., LECHNER, A. M. & AZHAR, B. (2019). The effect of oil palm agricultural expansion on group size of long-tailed macaques (*Macaca fascicularis*) in peninsular Malaysia. *Mammalian Biology* 94, 48–53.
- THIERRY, B. (2007a). The macaques. In *Primates in Perspective* (eds C. J. CAMPBELL, A. FUENTES, K. C. MACKINNON, S. BEARDER and M. PANGER). Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- THIERRY, B. (2007b). Unity in diversity: lessons from macaque societies. Evolutionary Anthropology 16, 224–238.

- WARNE, R. K., MOLONEY, G. K. & CHABER, A.-L. (2023). Is biomedical research demand driving a monkey business? *One Health* **16**, 100520.
- WINKLER, K., FUCHS, R., ROUNSEVELL, M. & HEROLD, M. (2021). Global land use changes are four times greater than previously estimated. *Nature Communications* 12, 2501.

VI. SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information may be found online in the Supporting Information section at the end of the article.

Appendix S1. Supplementary methods.

(Received 5 March 2024; revised 13 February 2025; accepted 19 February 2025)